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 IN THE SUPREME COURT  

STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA 
________________ 

 
No. 27869 

________________ 
 

STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA, 
 
  Plaintiff and Appellee, 
 
v. 
 
CHRISTOPHER DEAN KRYGER, 
 
  Defendant and Appellant. 
  

________________ 
 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

 
 Throughout this brief, State of South Dakota, Plaintif and Appellee, 

will be referred to as “State.”  Christopher Dean Kryger, Defendant and 

Appellant, will be identified as “Defendant” or “Kryger.”  References to the 

transcripts of the June 8, 2015 motions hearing; the November 3 

through 20, 2015 jury trial; and the February 25, 2016 sentencing 

hearing will be designated as “MH,” “JT” and “ST,” respectively.  Citations 

to the settled record, Defendant’s brief, jury instructions and exhibits will 

be identified as “SR,” “DB,” “JI” and “EX,” respectively.  State has 

combined Kryger’s sixth, seventh and ninth issues, which deal with jury 

instructions, into one argument for the sake of brevity. 

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

 This case arises from a Judgment and Sentence which was filed 

on April 28, 2016, by the Honorable Mark E. Salter, Circuit Court 
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Judge, Second Judicial Circuit, Minnehaha County.  SR 680-81.  On 

May 20, 2016, Defendant filed a Notice of Appeal.  SR 683.  This Court 

has jurisdiction as provided in SDCL 23A-32-2. 

 STATEMENT OF LEGAL ISSUES AND AUTHORITIES 

I 
 

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION 

WHEN IT PRECLUDED DEFENDANT’S QUESTIONING OF 
BRIAN JOHNSON ABOUT HIS THREATS, BIAS AND ANGER  

TOWARD KRYGER AND HIS DEFENSE COUNSEL? 
 
Judge Salter’s analysis was proper. 

 
State v. Spaniol, 2017 S.D. 20, 895 N.W.2d 329 

 
II 

 

WHETHER JUDGE SALTER ERRED WHEN HE ADMITTED 
DR. SNELL’S TESTIMONY ABOUT THE FACT THAT THIS 
EXPERT WAS UNABLE TO DETERMINE, BASED UPON A 

REASONABLE DEGREE OF MEDICAL CERTAINTY, IF THE 
VICTIM’S VAGINAL INJURIES HAD BEEN CAUSED BY 

CONSENSUAL OR NONCONSENSUAL SEX? 
 
The trial court’s decision was appropriate. 

 
State v. Running Bird, 2002 S.D. 86, 649 N.W.2d 609 

 
III 

 

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION 
WHEN IT ADMITTED CERTAIN EVIDENCE AT TRIAL, 

WHICH INCLUDED:  (A) INPUT ABOUT A BURN PIT; (B) 
TESTIMONY ABOUT TWO FRESH SCRATCH MARKS ON 
DEFENDANT’S CHEST; AND (C) THE VICTIM’S AUTOPSY 

PHOTOGRAPHS? 
 
Judge Salter’s evidentiary rulings were correct. 

 
State v. Goodshot, 2017 S.D. 33, 897 N.W.2d 346 
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IV 
 

WHETHER JUDGE SALTER ERRED WHEN HE ADMITTED 
DEFENDANT’S SPONTANEOUS REMARKS ABOUT HIS 

CRIMINAL MIND, DURING KRYGER’S INTERVIEWS WITH 
DETECTIVES FORSTER AND HOFFMAN, AS STATEMENTS 
AGAINST INTEREST? 

 
The trial court’s rational was sound. 
 

State v. Corean, 2010 S.D. 85, 791 N.W.2d 44 
 

V 
 
WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION 

WHEN IT DENIED THREE OF DEFENDANT’S MOTIONS FOR 
MISTRIAL, WHICH PERTAINED TO HIS JAIL, PAROLE AND 

CUSTODIAL STATUS? 
 
Judge Salter’s decisions were proper. 

 
State v. Kvasnicka, 2013 S.D. 25, 829 N.W.2d 123 

 
VI 

 

WHETHER JUDGE SALTER ERRED WHEN HE REJECTED 
DEFENDANT’S PROPOSED JURY INSTRUCTIONS, WHICH 

RELATED TO:  (A) KRYGER’S ADMISSIONS ABOUT HIS 
CRIMINAL MIND; (B) THE DEFINITIONS OF SPECULATION 
AND CONJECTURE; AND (C) A SO-CALLED ALIBI 

DEFENSE? 
 
The trial court reached the right results. 

 
State v. Jensen, 2007 S.D. 76, 737 N.W.2d 285 

 
VII 

 

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION 
WHEN IT DENIED DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT 

OF ACQUITTAL? 
 
Judge Salter’s evaluation was correct. 

 
State v. Owens, 2002 S.D. 42, 643 N.W.2d 735 
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VIII 
 

WHETHER THE CUMULATIVE EFFECTS OF JUDGE 
SALTER’S SO-CALLED ERRORS DEPRIVED DEFENDANT 

OF A FAIR TRIAL? 
 
This issue was not raised below. 

 
State v. Birdshead, 2016 S.D. 87, 888 N.W.2d 209 

 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 This matter stems from Defendant’s brutal rape and murder of the 

victim by ligature strangulation, and the burglary of her home.  SR 18-

21, 592-95, 680-81; JT 907-1586, 1642-3095; EX 1-127, A-G.  The 

Minnehaha County State’s Attorney filed an Indictment on April 9, 2014, 

which charged Kryger with five counts of First Degree Murder (Counts 1-

5), Class A felonies, in violation of SDCL §§ 22-16-4, 22-16-4(1) and 22-

16-4(2); one count of Second Degree Murder (Depraved Mind, Count 6), 

Class B felony, in violation of SDCL 22-16-7; one count of Second Degree 

Rape (by Force, Coercion or Threats, Count 7), Class 1 felony, in violation 

of SDCL 22-22-1(2); one count of Third Degree Rape (Incapable of Giving 

Consent Due to Physical or Mental Incapacity, Count 8), Class 2 felony, 

in violation of SDCL 22-22-1(3); and two counts of First Degree Burglary 

(Counts 9 and 10), Class 2 felonies, in violation of SDCL 22-32-1(1) and 

22-32-1(3).  SR 18-21.  Also on the same date, this prosecutor filed a 

Part II Information for Habitual Criminal (SDCL 22-7-7), which was later 

dismissed.  SR 22-23, 681; ST 788. 
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 On November 3 through 20, 2015, Judge Salter conducted a jury 

trial.  JT 907-1586, 1642-3095; EX 1-27, A-G.  The jury convicted 

Defendant on all of the crimes charged in the Indictment, except for 

Third Degree Rape (Incapable of Giving Consent Due to Physical or 

Mental Incapacity, Count 8), in violation of SDCL 22-22-1(3).  SR 18-21, 

592-95, 680-81; JT 1581-84.  This judge held a sentencing hearing on 

February 25, 2016, and required that Kryger serve a life sentence in 

prison for First Degree Murder (Count 1); 50 years for Second Degree 

Rape (Count 7, concurrent to First Degree Murder); and 25 years for 

First Degree Burglary (Count 10, concurrent to First Degree Murder but 

consecutive to Second Degree Rape).  SR 18-21, 592-95, 680-81; ST 785-

807.  The court filed a Judgment and Sentence on April 28, 2016 and 

this appeal ensued.  JT 680-83.   

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

  In a tragic chain of events Defendant murdered and raped the 

victim, Kari Kirkegaard, because he was angry about breaking up with 

his girlfriend.  JT 907-1586, 1642-3095; EX 1-127, A-G.  On March 14, 

2014, Kari (who had just survived breast cancer) attended a family 

gathering at Pizza Ranch in Sioux Falls, as was her usual Friday night 

custom, and returned to her residence (709 South Garfield), at about 

10 p.m. that evening.  JT 2770-74, 2796-2800, 2812-18, 2859-61, 2856-

60, 2865-66, 2946-49; EX 33.  The victim’s naked body was discovered 

two days later (March 16, 2014) in her bathtub, which was filled with 
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running water and a cleaning product, by her son’s (Nick) girlfriend.  JT 

2059-61, 2775-2806, 2811-12, 2950-52, 2990-92, 2946-52; EX 63-66.  

A number of Kari’s family members and friends smelled bleach, or some 

type of chemical, after entering the victim’s residence, although no one 

had cleaned up anything; these folks and the investigators, who had 

arrived to provide help, believed that Kari’s death had been accidental 

because no obvious signs of foul play were evident; but Kari’s relatives 

discovered (after the police left and the removal of the victim’s body) that 

her bedding, clothing, towels, rugs, purse and car keys were missing, so 

detectives were called to the crime scene for a second time.  JT 2780-85, 

2806-12, 2831-36, 2842, 2854-55, 2881-82, 2889-90, 2950-63, 2984-

85.  A paramedic and several other investigators, however, did not notice 

any bleach smell until after Kari’s remains had been taken out of her 

bathtub and the water was drained, which left a residue.  JT 1251-52, 

1340, 2959-75, 2984-85, 2997.   

 At trial, Brian Johnson (Kari’s brother) testified that he had been 

so upset by the victim’s death, that he had punched a hole in the 

bathroom wall, broken his finger and cut his hand.  JT 1376-77, 2833-

34.  In addition, this witness indicated that Kari had been “lax [about] 

locking” her front door; that the victim’s bathroom had smelled “really 

clean,” after the water had been drained from the tub; that many items 

from Kari’s bathroom and bedroom were missing; but that the victim had 

put the money (which she kept hidden in the freezer) in the bank, so it 
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had not been stolen from her home.  JT 1307-09, 2834-38, 2840-42.  

Johnson also stated that he had viewed Kari’s body, in her casket, and 

that the victim’s fingernails had been cut farther back than usual, 

although she had a habit of biting them.  JT 1090, 2838-39; EX 105-06. 

 Detective Bakke explained that he had obtained a surveillance 

video of a mosque, which was located just to the north of Kari’s 

residence, and that it had captured the victim’s SUV pulling into her 

driveway on March 14, 2014 (Friday), at approximately 10 p.m.  JT 1268-

69, 1302-07, 2348-54, 3002-06, 3075-86; EX 38, 46-47, 118.  This 

investigator testified that the recording showed that a bicyclist had 

ridden past Kari’s residence at about 11:30 p.m., while heading north; 

and immediately doubled back on the sidewalk of the victim’s home and 

visibly slowed down, as this person passed by.  JT 1302-07, 2348-50, 

2365, 3081-82; EX 46-47, 99.  In addition, Bakke indicated that this 

video had captured a male subject (in a plaid coat) walking to the south 

of the mosque on March 15, 2014 (Saturday) at about 2:30 a.m., and 

returning to Kari’s SUV; and that the driver of the victim’s vehicle had 

taken off without turning on its headlights.1  JT 1305-07, 1309-12, 

2350-51, 2365-66,3002-06, 3083-84; EX 46-47, 118.  This detective also 

related that the recording showed Kari’s SUV returning to her residence 

about an hour later, or at approximately 3:30 a.m.; that the driver had 

                     

1 Perry Echkoff, a utility billing supervisor, testified that the water 
began running continuously at Kari’s home “sometime after 1 a.m.” on 

March 15, 2014 (Saturday).  JT 2896-98. 
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missed the victim’s driveway and turned around in the Garfield 

Elementary School parking lot; and that Kari’s SUV had ultimately been 

parked back in her driveway.  JT 1309-12, 2350-56, 3005-06, 3084-85; 

EX 46-47.  Bakke further noted that the “glint of a bicycle reflector” 

could be seen heading to the west and on the “very right side,” of this 

video, and that a portion of it (EX 38) and a still photograph (EX 118) 

had been released to the media to find this suspect.  JT 1286, 1310-12, 

3085-90; EX 99. 

 Moreover, Defendant’s girlfriend, Lori Nagel, took the stand for the 

prosecution at trial, and testified that she was living at 224 South 

Garfield, or near the victim’s home on March 14, 2014; that Defendant 

and Nagel had gotten into a disagreement and broken up on that date at 

around 6:45 p.m.; and that Kryger had gotten so angry that he had 

smashed his cell phone on the ground, and taken off on his bike.  

JT 2416-22, 2433-37; EX 37.  Nagel indicated that Defendant’s usual 

mode of transportation was a bicycle, even though he could drive a car; 

that Kryger had called her by telephone and begged her for forgiveness 

on Saturday morning at around 4:36 a.m. (March 15, 2014); and that 

Defendant had returned to her place at about 4:52 a.m. and slept over, 

although he was not wearing his plaid flannel jacket supposedly due to a 

fall in the river.  JT 2422-24, 2437-39, 2480-81; EX G.  In addition, 

Nagel detailed that Defendant had “a significant amount of money” on 

the morning of March 15, 2014 (Saturday), when he offered to buy 
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donuts for breakfast; that Kryger had given her an engagement ring later 

that day; and that Defendant had two fresh scratches on his upper 

chest, which he said were work injuries.  JT 2417, 2423-27.  Nagel also 

related that “[m]y heart just fell” when she saw the mosque video and 

still photograph, which had been released to the media, because she 

recognized Kryger’s demeanor, his distinctive walk and the fact that he 

was always “dressed the same from head to toe.”  JT 2427-30; EX 38, 

118.  Nagel further verified she had two photographs on her cell phone 

(EX 58, 59), which showed Defendant’s typical attire; and that Kryger 

had changed his story, during a May 12, 2014 telephone call, and 

insisted that he had had consensual sex with Kari (EX 37), after DNA-

testing linked him to the victim.  JT 1295-96, 2431-34. 

 In the same vein, Defendant’s ex-girlfriend, Jeannette Gaul, was 

able to identify him, in the mosque video, by “his walk” and the jacket 

which he usually wore.  JT 2400-02; EX 38, 118.  Defendant’s friend, 

Mike Miller, indicated that he had run into Kryger at Hy-Vee grocery 

store, on March 15, 2014 (Saturday morning); and that he had given 

Defendant a ride to Wal-Mart, where Kryger purchased an engagement 

ring for Nagel.  JT 2403-09, 2412-14; EX 48.  Miller also related that 

Defendant had admitted that he burnt his jacket to get rid of it, after 

Mike saw the mosque video, and called Kryger to say “hey, look, you’re 

on T.V.,” as a joke.  JT 2408-09, 2413-14; EX 38.  Defendant’s uncle, 

Richard Foster, further identified Kryger, in the mosque video but 
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recanted at trial, although he confirmed that Kryger owned a (blue) plaid 

flannel jacket.  JT 2451-58; EX 38. 

 Dr. Kenneth Snell, a forensic pathologist, stressed that he had 

performed an autopsy upon Kari on March 17, 2014, and discovered a 

“3/4th inch wide . . . ligature furrow,” which consisted of two parallel red 

lines, and went across the midline of the victim’s anterior neck.  SR 490-

501; JT 1067-78, 1088-91; EX 60-61, 100-01, 103-04, 107-09.  This 

expert emphasized that he had found petechial hemorrhages, or little red 

dots throughout Kari’s “entire face,” which included both the white area 

of her eyes and soft tissue surrounding them; and inside of the victim’s 

mouth, as well as her upper and lower lips.  JT 1077-78, 1093-95; 

EX 113-16.  In addition, Dr. Snell indicated that both the right side of 

Kari’s hyoid bone and thyroid cartilage, which consisted of a “little 

projection” in the victim’s larynx, had been fractured; and that Kari had 

a number of other wounds, which included a hemorrhage on the back of 

her head, a purple contusion on her right breast, and abrasions on her 

shoulders, left cheek, knee, and fingers.  JT 1078-82, 1087-95; EX 100, 

102, 110-12, 117.  This expert also noted that Kari had two red marks, 

in the vestibule of her vagina, and another red mark inside the anterior 

wall of her vaginal vault.  JT 1082-83, 1109-11. 

 Providing more details, Dr. Snell determined that the cause of 

Kari’s death had been “asphyxia due to ligature strangulation”; that the 

manner of the victim’s death had been a homicide; and that he could not 
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pinpoint the exact time of Kari’s death, because her remains had been 

discovered “in a body of water” and kept in a morgue cooler.  SR 490-

504; JT 1099-1100, 1113-14; EX 60-61, 100-04, 107-09.  In addition, 

this expert related that it generally takes “10 to 15 seconds” to render an 

average person unconscious by ligature strangulation, and “three to five 

minutes to reach irreversible brain damage”; and that he had performed 

a rape kit examination in this case.  JT 1100-07, 1290-91; EX 29.  

Dr. Snell also was unable to say (to a reasonable degree of medical 

certainty) whether Kari’s vaginal injuries had been caused by consensual 

or nonconsensual intercourse; but he opined that either “rough 

consensual sex or [a sexual] assault” had occurred because of the 

trauma to the victim’s vaginal area.  JT 1107-08, 1113-14, 1116-18.  

 Contributing to this picture, Kristina Dreckman, a serologist, 

explained that it was not practical to test every piece of evidence, which 

had been collected by the police, after the discovery of Kari’s death; that 

the prioritization of testing protocols had been necessary to determine 

the fastest way to identify a possible suspect; and that a risk to the 

public had existed because the victim’s killer was still at large.  JT 1204-

10, 1238-46.  In addition, this expert testified that “the sperm cell 

fraction,” which had been found on Kari’s vaginal swabs, matched 

Defendant’s DNA profile; and that Kryger’s genetic characteristics would 

not occur “more than once among . . . unrelated individuals in the world 

population.”  JT 1222-23, 1237-38, 1290-91; EX 50-53.  Dreckman also 
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confirmed that there were no unknown male or female DNA profiles in 

this case; that any other samples were partial, unsuitable for 

comparison, or degraded; that bleach, fire, or other environmental 

factors can degrade and destroy DNA evidence; and that there is no test, 

which can detect if bleach has been added to a sample.  JT 1211-12, 

1233-38, 1244, 1290, 1378; EX 51-53, 98. 

 Furthermore, two detectives, Forster and Hoffman, testified about 

their involvement in Kari’s case.  Forster indicated that he had talked to 

Defendant, in his patrol car on March 20, 2014, and recorded Kryger’s 

remarks about his criminal mind (EX 45); and that this detective had 

obtained copies of Wal-Mart receipts (EX 54), which revealed that 

Defendant had purchased a ring, cell phone and calling plan on the 

afternoon of March 15, 2014 (Saturday).  SR 479-80; JT 1140-44, 1455-

56.  In addition, Hoffman (lead detective) related that he had investigated 

Kari’s romantic background, which showed that none of her male 

friends, her ex-husband, or any other acquaintances were connected to 

the crimes in question; and that he had conducted several interviews 

(EX 39-40) with Defendant on March 20 and 28, 2014, which again 

detailed Kryger’s references to his criminal mind (EX 39).  JT 1269-72, 

1282-88, 1291-92, 1297, 1322-29, 1348-69, 1373-81, 1389-91, 1455-

56.  Hoffman also stated that Kari had sheer blinds on her living room 

windows, so anyone could see inside; that it would have been futile to 

test the burn pit site because fire destroys, or deteriorates  DNA 
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evidence; that there were no unknown fingerprints or DNA profiles in this 

case; that it was not feasible to test all of the approximately 297 items, 

which the police had collected, and that many of them were not related to 

the victim’s death; and that none of Kari’s personal effects were ever 

located.2  JT 1250-51, 1256-57, 1288-90, 1332-343 1341-42, 1374-78, 

1385-86.   

 Finally, Defendant’s bicycle and a closet full of cleaning supplies 

were found by the police, in a shed at Kryger’s workplace.  JT 1036-39, 

1041-42; EX 98-99.  

ARGUMENTS 

I 

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION 
WHEN IT PRECLUDED DEFENDANT’S QUESTIONING OF 
BRIAN JOHNSON ABOUT HIS THREATS, BIAS AND ANGER 

TOWARD KRYGER AND HIS DEFENSE COUNSEL. 
 
A. Background and Standard of Review. 

  Defendant contends, in his first issue, that Judge Salter made a 

mistake when he prevented the defense from questioning Brian Johnson 

(the victim’s brother) about his threats toward Kryger and his defense 

counsel.  DB 13-17.  Defendant also maintains that his federal 

constitutional rights, under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments, were 

                     
2 Hoffman detailed that there was “some dirt” at the south window of 
the victim’s home, which looked “almost like a footprint”; but Marc Toft, 

a police officer, confirmed that laboratories in South Dakota did not 
have the capacity to perform shoe casting comparisons.  JT 965-67, 

1015, 1254; EX 67-68. 
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violated because Johnson’s hatred and anger might have been so great 

that he fabricated, or omitted details about the money, which Kari kept 

in her freezer; “the timing” of the bleach smell in the victim’s home; and 

whether any of Kari’s relatives had cleaned up the crime scene.  DB 15-

17. 

 The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and 

Article VI, § 7 of the South Dakota Constitution guarantee a defendant 

the right to confront witnesses.  State v. McCahren, 2016 S.D. 34, ¶ 25, 

878 N.W.2d 586, 597.  This right, however, is not absolute and the 

defendant bears the burden of establishing that “a reasonable jury would 

have had a significantly different impression,” if this limitation did not 

exist.  State v. Walton, 1999 S.D. 80, ¶¶ 25-27, 600 N.W.2d 524, 530-31.   

B. Legal Analysis. 

 Judge Salter carefully reviewed the State’s oral motion in limine 

and precluded Defendant from referencing Johnson’s threats against 

Kryger and his defense team during cross-examination at trial.  SR 436, 

448-50, 455-58; JT 2758-64, 2821-43.  State v. Bausch, 2017 S.D. 1, 

¶ 12, 889 N.W.2d 404, 408; Walton, 1999 S.D. 80, ¶ 27, 600 N.W.2d at 

530-31 (only the opportunity for effective cross-examination must exist 

and not to whatever extent the defense may wish).  This judge took into 

consideration that the prosecution’s request implicated Defendant’s 

federal and state constitutional confrontation rights; but struck a 

balance under SDCL 19-19-403 and determined that Johnson’s remarks 
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only had a “marginal degree” of relevance.  JT 2758-64.  State v. Spaniol, 

2017 S.D. 20, ¶ 29, 895 N.W.2d 329, 340.  In addition, Judge Salter 

pointed out that Johnson was going to testify about the “investigatory 

timeline” after Kari’s demise; that this witness already had “strong 

feelings” about Defendant and his defense team because he was the 

victim’s surviving brother; and that the exposure of Johnson’s threats, 

so-called motive to lie, and anger against Kryger and his attorneys was a 

collateral matter that could confuse the jury, when it evaluated his 

testimony.  JT 2762-64.  McCahren, 2016 S.D. 34, ¶ 25, 878 N.W.2d at 

597.  This judge also noted that he was imposing “a reasonable 

restriction,” as far as the exclusion of Johnson’s testimony; and that this 

approach avoided the risk of unfair prejudice and unnecessary delay.  

JT 2763-64.  Bausch, 2017 S.D. 1, ¶ 14, 889 N.W.2d at 409.  The court 

further talked to Johnson before he testified (in-chambers) and warned 

him about not engaging in any emotional outbursts; and Brian 

apologized and said that he never meant to threaten anyone.  JT 2821-

28. 

 Lastly, any error here is harmless (if error at all), because other 

members of Kari’s family (Nick, his girlfriend, a cousin and other 

relatives) testified that they had smelled bleach, or a cleaning product, 

when they first entered the victim’s residence; a number of these folks 

stated that no one had cleaned up any blood from Johnson’s hand 

injury, or anything else; and that they had discovered that Kari’s purse 
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was missing.  JT 2780, 2783, 2789, 2806, 2808-12, 2854-55, 2881-83, 

2969-70, 2972-73, 2995-97.  State v. Rogers, 2016 S.D. 83, ¶¶ 18-19, 

887 N.W.2d 720, 725.  In addition, Nagel related that Defendant had had 

“a significant amount of money” on the morning after Kari’s death, which 

was unusual, and that he had bought her an engagement ring.  JT 2424-

25.  State v. Uhring, 2016 S.D. 93, ¶ 12, 888 N.W.2d 550, 554 (jury sorts 

out the truth).  Detective Forster also confirmed that Kryger had spent 

$171.79 at Walmart, during this same time frame.  SR 479-80; JT 927-

28, 1144; EX 54.  Thus, no constitutional infirmities exist on this basis.   

II 

JUDGE SALTER DID NOT ERR WHEN HE ADMITTED 
DR. SNELL’S TESTIMONY ABOUT THE FACT THAT THIS 

EXPERT WAS UNABLE TO DETERMINE, BASED UPON A 
REASONABLE DEGREE OF MEDICAL CERTAINTY, IF THE 
VICTIM’S VAGINAL INJURIES HAD BEEN CAUSED BY 

CONSENSUAL OR NONCONSENSUAL SEX. 
 

A. Overview and Standard of Review. 

 Defendant professes, in his second issue, that the trial court 

denied him the right to fair trial, when it admitted Dr. Snell’s testimony 

that Kari’s vaginal injuries could have been caused by either consensual 

or nonconsensual sex.  DB 17-22.  Kryger also alleges that this expert’s 

opinion “gave rise to equal degrees of possibilities” and was couched in 

terms of probabilities, which gave the jury “an invitation to speculate and 

guess,” about whether the victim’s vaginal wounds were the product of 

consent, or a sexual assault.  DB 18-22.   
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 The admissibility of expert testimony is governed by SDCL 

19-19-702 and reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard.  State v. 

Fisher, 2011 S.D. 74, ¶¶ 40-42, 805 N.W.2d 571, 580.  A medical 

expert’s testimony that does not give an opinion as to defendant’s guilt 

and only states that the victim’s injuries did not indicate consent is 

proper.  State v. Ralios, 2010 S.D. 43, ¶ 49, 783 N.W.2d 647, 660-61; 

State Running Bird, 2002 S.D. 86, ¶¶ 38-40, 649 N.W.2d 609, 616-17. 

B. Legal Synopsis.  

 Judge Salter listened to Dr. Snell’s proposed testimony, during the 

June 8, 2015 motion hearing, and ruled that this expert’s opinion that 

Kari’s vaginal injuries could had been caused by either consensual or 

nonconsensual sex was predicated upon “enough [medical] certainty,” 

and that it was permissible under SDCL 19-19-702.  DB 17-22; SR 294-

97, 678; MH 757-58.  Fisher, 2011 S.D. 74, ¶¶ 40-42, 805 N.W.2d at 

580; State v. Boyer, 2007 S.D. 112, ¶¶ 20-29, 741 N.W.2d 749, 756-58; 

State v. Moran, 2003 S.D. 14, ¶ 42, 657 N.W.2d 319, 329-30.  In 

addition, Dr. Snell opined at trial that Kari’s vaginal injuries had been 

caused by “rough intercourse or [a sexual] assault,” because of the 

trauma to this area of the victim’s body.  DB 19, 22; JT 1107-08, 1116-

17.  Ralios, 2010 S.D. 43, ¶ 49, 783 N.W.2d at 660-61.  This expert also 

acknowledged, during cross-examination, that he could not determine, 

based upon a reasonable degree of medical certainty (because he was 

present during the commission of any crimes), whether or not the sexual 
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intercourse here was consensual or nonconsensual.  JT 1113-14.  

Mousseau v. Schwartz, 2008 S.D. 86, ¶ 28, 756 N.W.2d 345, 358 (there 

are no “magic words” needed to express an expert’s degree of medical 

certainty, as long as he is expressing a medical opinion); Running Bird, 

2002 S.D. 86, ¶¶ 38-40, 649 N.W.2d at 616-17 (medical experts may 

testify that a victim’s injuries did not indicate consent without invading 

the province of the jury).  Dr. Snell, however, confirmed during redirect 

examination, that Kari’s vaginal wounds were more likely the result of 

force, although either rough consensual sex or a sexual assault could 

have taken place.  JT 1107-08, 1116-18.  Moran, 2003 S.D. 14, ¶ 44, 657 

N.W.2d at 329-30.  

 Furthermore, Defendant was not deprived of a fair trial, or 

hampered in any way, from arguing his position that he supposedly had 

engaged in consensual sex with Kari before her demise.  JT 1113-14, 

1117-19.  State v. Aesoph, 2002 S.D. 71, ¶¶ 54-56, 647 N.W.2d 743, 

760.  In fact, Kryger used this angle to raise doubt about his guilt, during 

opening and closing statements; and to suggest that Dr. Snell could not 

pinpoint whether the victim’s vaginal tears were the product of 

“consensual [or nonconsensual] play,” before her death.  JT 1503-05, 

1508, 1524-27, 1538, 2750, 2756-57.  Consequently, Kryger’s second 

issue should be given short shrift. 
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III 

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION 
WHEN IT ADMITTED CERTAIN EVIDENCE AT TRIAL, 

WHICH INCLUDED:  (A) INPUT ABOUT A BURN PIT; 
(B) NAGEL’S TESTIMONY ABOUT THE FRESH SCRATCH 
MARKS ON DEFENDANT’S CHEST; AND (C) THE VICTIM’S 

AUTOPSY PHOTOGRAPHS. 
 

A. Background and Stand of Review. 

 The crux of Defendant’s third issue is that Judge Salter admitted 

certain irrelevant evidence at trial, and that its probative value was 

outweighed by unfair prejudice.  DB 22-24 n.12.  These materials 

included testimony and photographs, which pertained to a burn pit; 

Nagel’s testimony about the two fresh scratch marks on Defendant’s 

chest; and the victim’s autopsy photographs.  DB 22-24 n.12. 

 A trial court’s evidentiary rulings are presumed to be correct and 

are reviewed under an abuse of discussion standard.  State v. Goodshot, 

2017 S.D. 33, ¶ 14, 897 N.W.2d 346, 350.  Such errors are prejudicial 

when, in all probability, they produce some effect upon the jury’s final 

conclusion.  Bausch, 2017 S.D. 1, ¶ 12, 889 N.W.2d at 408-09.   

B. Legal Analysis. 

 1. Burn Pit Evidence. 

 Judge Salter did not abuse his discretion when he admitted 

testimony and photographs (EX 92-94), which related to a burn pit, 

because this evidence explained the steps that investigators had taken to 

find the plaid flannel jacket, which Defendant had been wearing on 

March 14, 2014, and Kari’s missing personal property.  DB 22-24; 
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JT 2484-2500.  Goodshot, 2017 S.D. 33, ¶¶ 14-15, 897 N.W.2d at 350-

51.  In addition, this judge denied Defendant’s foundation and relevancy 

objections (outside the presence of the jury) because the photographs 

(EX 92-94) reflected what the police had seen, when they responded to a 

tip about this fire pit from a concerned member of the public.  JT 2492-

96.  State v. Fisher, 2013 S.D. 23, ¶¶ 9, 15, 828 N.W.2d 795, 799-801.  

The court also was aware that there was no way to perform any testing 

on these remains, but noted that it was going to rely upon the 

adversarial process to probe and reveal any deficiencies in this context.  

JT 2492-96. 

 Furthermore, this analysis dovetails with Mike Miller’s input that 

Defendant had said that he burned his jacket, after the release of the 

mosque video to the public.  JT 2408-09; EX 38.  State v. Stanley, 2017 

S.D. 32, ¶¶ 12, 25, 896 N.W.2d 669, 674-75, 678.  In addition, Robert 

Menke, an employee of Pride Neon Signs, indicated that the burn pit had 

been located in a remote area by the Sioux River, and that the “fabric in 

the fire” had caught his attention, so he contacted the police.  JT 2487-

89.  Chad Winkel, a police officer, also related that this charred area 

appeared to be fresh, although it could not be attributed to any 

particular source.  JT 2489-91, 2496-2500; EX 92-93.  The defense 

further exposed, during cross-examination of Winkel, that there were no 

identifying items (a melted toothbrush, a dollar bill and 12 cigarettes), in 
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these debris.  JT 1341-42, 2498-2500.  Goodshot, 2017 S.D. 33, ¶ 15, 

897 N.W.2d at 350-51 (no prejudice existed).  

 2. Nagel’s Testimony About the Fresh Scratches on Kryger’s 
Chest. 

 

 As for Defendant’s injuries, Judge Salter meticulously evaluated 

Nagel’s testimony about the two fresh abrasions on Kryger’s upper chest, 

which she had noticed on the morning after the victim’s death, and 

looked like fingernail scratches.  DB 24 n.12; JT 2426-27, 2447-49; 

EX 120-22.  State v. Janis, 2016 S.D. 43, ¶¶ 14-15, 880 N.W.2d 76, 80-

81 (lay witness testimony encompasses a witness’s experiences).  In 

addition, this judge discerned that Nagel’s perceptions fell “within the 

realm of observations,” which constituted proper lay witness testimony, 

and that she was not providing any so-called expert opinion.  JT 2426-

27, 2447-49.  Goodshot, 2017 S.D. 33, ¶ 15, 897 N.W.2d at 350-51.  The 

court also stated that Nagel’s input was helpful for the jury and 

rationally based upon what an average person, who has “lived more than 

a few years,” would know and understand.  JT 2426-27, 2447-49.  State 

v. Condon, 2007 S.D. 124, ¶¶ 30-31, 742 N.W.2d 861, 870 (personal 

knowledge counts). 

 3. The Victim’s Autopsy Photographs. 

 Finally, Judge Salter reached the right result when he admitted 

Kari’s autopsy photographs (EX 100-17), during Dr. Snell’s testimony at 

trial.  DB 24 n.12; SR 424-25, 674-75; MH 758-60; JT 1084-95.  State v. 
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Scott, 2013 S.D. 31, ¶¶ 25-29, 829 N.W.2d 458, 467-68 (abuse of 

discretion controls).  Dr. Snell explained that these photographs reflected 

the different injuries, which he had observed during Kari’s autopsy; that 

this expert had needed to refer to these items, during his discussion 

about the cause of the victim’s death due to ligature strangulation; and 

that he had relied upon them in his autopsy report.  SR 490-501; 

JT 1084-95; EX 60-61, 124.  State v. Owens, 2002 S.D. 42, ¶¶ 88-93, 

643 N.W.2d 735, 756-57 (autopsy photographs are admissible, even 

when disturbing and cumulative).  Dr. Snell also used these photographs 

to illustrate the degree of force, which was necessary to end the victim’s 

life; and to show the nature and location of her wounds.  SR 490-501; 

JT 1084-95; EX 60-61, 100-01, 103-04, 107-09, 113-17.  State v. Hart, 

1998 S.D. 93, ¶¶ 21-23, 584 N.W.2d 863, 867; State v. Knecht, 1997 S.D. 

53, ¶¶ 9, 11-12, 563 N.W.2d 413, 417-19.  Defendant, therefore, cannot 

manufacture any mistakes on such flimsy grounds. 

IV 

JUDGE SALTER DID NOT ERR WHEN HE ADMITTED 
DEFENDANT’S SPONTANEOUS REMARKS ABOUT HIS 
CRIMINAL MIND, DURING KRYGER’S INTERVIEWS WITH 

DETECTIVES FORSTER AND HOFFMAN, AS STATEMENTS 
AGAINST INTEREST. 

 
A. Overview and Standard of Review. 

 Defendant faults the trial court, in his fourth issue, because it 

admitted Kryger’s voluntary remarks about his criminal mind, during his 

interviews with investigators.  DB 24-27.  Defendant also insists that 
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these statements were related to a prior dismissed charge against him, 

and a “matter of general concern with his girlfriend/fiancée,” and 

amounted to inadmissible character evidence.  DB 25-27. 

 A criminal admission is an “avowal of a fact or of circumstances 

from which guilt may be inferred.”  State v. Corean, 2010 S.D. 85, ¶ 40, 

791 N.W.2d 44, 58.  Admissions are “the words or acts of a party 

opponent,” offered against him.  Id.  Admissions may include a 

defendant’s interview statements to police, or instances from his 

demeanor, conduct and behavior.  Johnson v. O’Farrell, 2010 S.D. 68, 

¶¶ 22-25, 787 N.W.2d 307, 315-16. 

B. Legal Summary. 

 Contrary to Defendant’s claims, Judge Salter determined that 

Kryger’s spontaneous remarks about his criminal mind (EX 39, 45), 

during his interviews with Forster and Hoffman, were admissible as 

statements against interest at trial.  DB 24-27; SR 426-27, 442-43, 670-

71, 676-77; JT 1140-41, 1269-71, 1449-57, 2056-61.  Goodshot, 2017 

S.D. 33, ¶¶ 14-15; Corean, 2010 S.D. 85, ¶ 40, 791 N.W.2d at 58.  This 

judge indicated that Defendant had been using common everyday 

language during his interviews, when he talked about his criminal mind; 

that Kryger had not been referring to any legal terms of art; and that the 

jury could interpret these remarks as admissions and not as anything, 

which related to the existence of a depraved mind or premeditation, in 

this context.  JT 1140-41, 1269-71, 1449-57, 2056-61; EX 39, 45.  
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Johnson, 2010 S.D. 68, ¶¶ 22-25, 787 N.W.2d at 315-16.  In addition, 

Judge Salter struck a balance and found that the probative force of 

Defendant’s statements was not substantially outweighed by the danger 

of unfair prejudice; that Kryger himself had raised the specter of his 

criminal mind in his “unsolicited admission[s]”; and that jury confusion 

was unlikely.  JT 1453-57, 2056-61; EX 39, 45.  Corean, 2010 S.D. 85, 

¶ 40, 791 N.W.2d at 58.  The court also noted (during the settlement of 

jury instructions) that Defendant’s criminal mind instructions were 

unnecessary due to the informal nature of his remarks; that there was 

no reason to draw more attention to this evidence; and that other 

instructions covered the same ground.  SR 532-33, 535-51, 583-85; 

JT 449-57, 2056-61; JI 17-18, 20-32.  State v. Janklow, 2005 S.D. 25, 

¶ 24, 693 N.W.2d 685, 695.  As such, Kryger’s fourth issue is without 

merit. 

V 

TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT 
DENIED THREE OF DEFENDANT’S MOTIONS FOR 

MISTRIAL, WHICH PERTAINED TO HIS JAIL, PAROLE AND 
CUSTODIAL STATUS. 
 

A. Background and Standard of Review. 

 Defendant asserts, in his fifth issue, that Judge Salter made a 

mistake when he rejected three of Kryger’s motions for mistrial, which 

were based upon:  (1) Dectective Forster’s inadvertent reference to 

obtaining Kryger’s cell phone from his parole agent; (2) an automated 

message in Defendant’s telephone call with Nagel, which revealed his jail 
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status; and (3) an accidental encounter between Kryger and the jurors, 

when he was being escorted out of the courthouse.  DB 27-29.  

Defendant also maintains that “prejudice was inflicted” on his right to a 

fair trial, despite the lower court’s benevolent intentions, when it rejected 

these requests.  DB 28-29. 

 A trial judge’s denial of a motion for mistrial is evaluated under an 

abuse of discretion standard.  State v. Kvasnicka, 2013 S.D. 25, ¶ 17, 

829 N.W.2d 123, 127-28.  An abuse of discretion is defined as a 

fundamental error of judgment, a choice outside the range of permissible 

choices, and a decision that is arbitrary or unreasonable.  Id.  Error is 

prejudicial when, in all probability, it produces some effect upon the final 

result at trial.  Id. 

B. Legal Analysis. 

1. Inadvertent Reference to Obtaining Defendant’s Cell Phone 

Number from his Parole Agent. 
 

 Judge Salter disposed of Defendant’s first motion for mistrial, 

because Detective Forster had inadvertently referred to obtaining 

Kryger’s cell phone number from his parole agent, by immediately 

granting the defense’s motion to strike.  DB 27-29; SR 378-81, 672-73; 

JT 1139-40, 1146-55.  State v. Owen, 2007 S.D. 21, ¶¶ 18-19, 729 

N.W.2d 356, 364.  In addition, the judge addressed this problem in an 

in-chambers hearing; rejected Defendant’s motion for mistrial because it 

was such an extreme measure; and decided to “neutralize the impact” of 

this testimony, by instructing the jury to disregard Forster’s comment 
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“concerning the source” of Kryger’s cell phone number.  JT 1139-40, 

1146-55.  Kvasnicka, 2013 S.D. 25, ¶ 17, 829 N.W.2d at 127-28; State v. 

Dillon, 2010 S.D. 72, ¶¶ 27-29, 788 N.W.2d 360, 369 (curative 

instruction was proper).  The court also warned Forster not to make any 

“more references to parole, prison, or [Defendant’s] criminal history, 

whatsoever”; ruled that this investigator’s remark was an unintended 

aberration; and that it did not create any unfair prejudice or mislead the 

jury.  JT 1144-55.  State v. Toohey, 2012 S.D. 51, ¶ 21, 816 N.W.2d 120, 

129. 

 2. Automated Message in Jail Telephone Call. 
 
 Judge Salter stressed (outside the presence of the jury) that he was 

denying Defendant’s next motion for mistrial, despite the fact that an 

automated computer message had not been redacted from Kryger’s jail 

telephone call with Nagel, before this recording was played for the jury at 

trial.  DB 27-29; JT 911-15, 2432-34, 2440-47; EX 37.  Bausch, 2017 

S.D. 1, ¶ 12, 889 N.W.2d at 408-09; Kvasnicka, 2013 S.D. 25, ¶ 17, 829 

N.W.2d at 128-29.  Equally pivotal, this judge emphasized that he was 

concerned about Defendant’s custodial status as a jail detainee and his 

past criminal record, but that this mechanized voice message did not 

mention Kryger’s previous involvement with the criminal justice system; 

did not violate any prior orders, or reference any prohibited other acts 

evidence; and did not amount to any miscarriage of justice.  JT 911-15, 

2432-34, 2440-47; EX 37.  Owen, 2007 S.D. 21, ¶¶ 18-19, 729 N.W.2d 
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at 364.  The court also formulated a limiting instruction (rather than 

putting a new exhibit into evidence) and admonished the jury to 

disregard the automated portion of this message in its entirety.  JT 911-

15, 2432-34, 2440-47; EX 37.  State v. Medicine Eagle, 2013 S.D. 60, 

¶ 23, 835 N.W.2d 886, 895 (limiting instruction cured any problems).   

 3. Accidental Encounter Between the Jurors and Defendant, 
When He was Being Escorted Out of the Courthouse. 

 
 Judge Salter rejected Defendant’s final motion for mistrial, after an 

accidental encounter had taken place between the jury and Kryger, when 

he was being escorted out of the courthouse and back to jail.  DB 27-29; 

JT 1562-78.  United States v. Carr, 647 F.2d 867-68 (8th Cir. 1981); 

Williams v. State, 705 S.W.2d 896-97 (Ark. App. 1986); State v. Buchhold, 

2007 S.D. 15, ¶¶ 53-56, 727 N.W.2d 816, 828-29.  This judge listened to 

Bailiff Pfeifer’s testimony, during an in-chambers hearing, and found out 

that the jurors were on an elevator when it stopped on the fourth floor, 

where Defendant and law enforcement personnel had been waiting for a 

ride.  JT 1562-78.  In addition, this judge detailed that the two deputies, 

who had been transporting Defendant, were wearing civilian clothes; that 

they were not carrying any weapons, or restraints; and that one juror 

had probably heard the noise from Deputy Brewer’s keys, when this 

individual said that “he could hear them coming.”  JT 1562-78.  This 

judge also pointed out that the jury had inadvertently run into 

Defendant, who was wearing civilian clothes; that Kryger did not have 

any “discernable” restraints and was not wearing leg shackles; that this 
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encounter had taken place in the back hallway of the courtroom after 

hours, where the jury had frequently seen other participants in this case; 

and that it was reasonable for them to think that Defendant was being 

protected by law enforcement personnel, particularly when two members 

of the Johnson’s family had been excluded from the trial.  JT 1562-78.  

State v. Mollman, 2003 S.D. 150, ¶¶ 21-27, 674 N.W.2d 22, 28-30.  The 

court also confirmed that this situation did not constitute “the straw that 

broke the camel’s back”; that Bailiff Pfeifer had tried to shield the jury 

from this encounter; and that there was no prejudice, either alone or in 

concert, which justified the remedy requested.  JT 1562-78.  Buchhold, 

2007 S.D. 15, ¶¶ 53-56, 727 N.W.2d at 828-29.  Hence, Defendant’s fifth 

issue rings hollow. 

VI 

JUDGE SALTER DID NOT ERR WHEN HE REJECTED 

DEFENDANT’S PROPOSED JURY INSTRUCTIONS WHICH 
RELATED TO:  (A) KRYGER’S ADMISSIONS ABOUT HIS 
CRIMINAL MIND; (B) THE DEFINITIONS OF SPECULATION 

AND CONJECTURE; AND (C) A SO-CALLED ALIBI 
DEFENSE. 
 

A. Overview and Standard of Review. 

 As previously noted, State has combined Defendant’s sixth, 

seventh and ninth issues into one argument due to word restrictions.  

DB 29-33, 38-42.  Defendant posits, in his sixth issue, that the trial 

court improperly denied three of the defense’s state of mind jury 

instructions (SR 583-85); and that the jury could have confused this 

concept with the “notions that [Kryger] also possessed a depraved mind 
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or mind with premeditated design,” because these terms sound alike.  

DB 21-31.  In addition, Defendant attacks Judge Salter, in his seventh 

issue, because he rejected five of the defense’s jury instructions, which 

dealt with speculation and conjecture (SR 587-91), and prevented Kryger 

from mitigating Dr. Snell’s speculative opinion and the volumes of 

evidence, which were not tested or linked to this case.  DB 31-33.  

Defendant also maintains, in his ninth issue, that the trial court erred by 

refusing the defense’s proposed alibi instruction (SR 586) because Kryger 

had said, in his police interviews, that he was almost hit by an SUV and 

could not have been at Kari’s address; and that the Family Market video 

simultaneously showed a bicyclist going north on Garfield, while the 

victim’s “SUV pulled into view” in front of her home and went south on 

this same street.  DB 38-42; JT 1316-17, 1320, 1322-25, 1373-74; EX G. 

 A trial judge has wide latitude in the wording and arrangement of 

its jury instructions, which are reviewed under an abuse of discretion 

standard.  Spaniol, 2017 S.D. 20, ¶ 49, 895 N.W.2d at 346-47.  It is not 

error for the court to refuse instructions offered only to amplify principles 

already embodied in other instructions.  State v. Jensen, 2007 S.D. 76, 

¶¶ 18-22, 737 N.W.2d 285, 290-91.   

B. Legal Synopsis 

 1. State of Mind Instructions. 

 Defendant’s complains about Judge Salter’s rejection of his three 

state of mind instructions overlap to some degree with his fourth issue.  
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DB 24-27, 29-31.  But as they relate to the jury instructions in question, 

this judge explained that he had revised his position about giving any 

state of mind instructions, after reviewing the other instructions in this 

case.  SR 532-33, 535-51, 583-85; JT 1449-57; JI 17-18, 20-32.  State v. 

Traversie, 2016 S.D. 19, ¶ 12, 877 N.W.2d 327, 331 (jury instructions 

are considered as a whole).  Equally important, Judge Salter pointed out 

that Defendant’s references to his criminal mind, during his police 

interviews (EX 39, 45) were based upon ordinary “everyday language,” 

and not any legal terms of art; that Kryger’s voluntary statements were 

not “in any way shape or form interchangeable” with specific intent, 

premeditated design, or depraved mind; and that the jury could decide 

what Defendant meant in this context.  SR 583-85; JT 1449-57.  Spaniol, 

2017 S.D. 20, ¶ 49, 895 N.W.2d at 346-47.  Judge Salter also stated that 

he did not want to restrict the jury’s ability to consider Kryger’s 

comments; draw attention to them in any clarifying directives; and that 

the other instructions here were sufficient.  SR 532-33, 535-51, 583-85; 

JT 1449-57; JI 17-18, 20-32.  State v. Diaz, 2016 S.D. 78, ¶ 42, 887 

N.W.2d 751, 763; Jensen, 2007 S.D. 76, ¶¶ 18-22, 737 N.W.2d at 290-

91.  The defense also had a full opportunity to challenge Defendant’s 

remarks to Forster and Hoffman, during cross and re-cross examination 

at trial.  DB 30; JT 1164-65, 1297-1302; 1323-26, 1331-32, 1339, 1382-

89, 1390-91.  State v. Birdshead, 2015 S.D. 77, ¶ 37, 871 N.W.2d 62, 76. 
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 2. Instructions Defining Speculation and Conjecture. 

 As for his seventh issue, Defendant criticizes Judge Salter because 

he denied five of the defense’s jury instructions (587-91), which pertained 

to the definitions of speculation and conjecture; and supposedly were 

necessary to counteract Dr. Snell’s input, the testing protocols in this 

case, and the large number of extraneous items collected by the police.  

DB 31-33; JT 1466-70.  This judge indicated, however, that he had 

decided to use Jury Instruction 58 (SR 577), in lieu of two of Defendant’s 

definitional instructions, because it was a better expression of South 

Dakota law and the concepts of speculation and conjecture; and had 

been vetted “with an eye toward” the law in our state.  SR 587-91; 

JT 1466-70.  Diaz, 2016 S.D. 78, ¶ 42, 887 N.W.2d at 763; State v. 

Nekolite, 2014 S.D. 55, ¶ 17, 851 N.W.2d 914, 919; Jensen, 2007 S.D. 

76, ¶¶ 18-22, 737 N.W.2d at 290-91.  In addition, Judge Salter rejected 

Defendant’s three remaining instructions because they did not fit the 

facts here and implied that a quantum of evidence was more important 

than its force, which was not accurate, given the small but critical 

amount of DNA that linked Kryger to his crimes.  SR 587-91; JT 1222-

23, 1466-70.  Traversie, 2016 S.D. 19, ¶¶ 12-13, 877 N.W.2d at 331-32.  

The court also noted that the defense was not prevented from arguing 

that the jury could not speculate or guess about any of the evidence 

presented by the State, even without any additional instructions.  

SR 577; JT 1469-70, 1517; JI 58.   
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 3. Alibi Instruction. 

 Lastly, Defendant avers, in his ninth issue, that Judge Salter erred 

when he refused to give the defense’s alibi instruction, which violated 

Kryger’s due process and fair trial rights.  DB 38-42; JT 1437-43.  This 

judge detailed that the prosecution had filed a Demand for Notice of Alibi 

(SR 21, 28), which encompassed the late hours of March 14 and into the 

early morning hours of March 15, 2014; that Defendant had not been 

able to pin down his whereabouts, during his interviews with Detective 

Hoffman (EX 39-40); and that Kryger had maintained that he was riding 

his bike in the victim’s neighborhood, but not know the local street 

names by heart.  SR 18-21, 28, 586; JT 1282, 1322-25, 1373-74, 1437-

43.  State v. Nuzum, 2006 S.D. 89, ¶¶ 11-23, 723 N.W.2d 555, 558-60; 

State v. Sonen, 492 N.W.2d 303, 305 (S.D. 1992).  In addition, Judge 

Salter factored the mosque and Family Market videos (EX 46-47 and G) 

into the equation and the fact that Defendant had not complied with 

SDCL §§ 23A-9-1 and 23A-9-4, or even mentioned any alibi defense, 

until the settlement of jury instructions; but decided to evaluate Kryger’s 

request on the merits.  SR 18-21, 28, 586; JT 1437-43; State v. Chipps, 

2016 S.D. 8, ¶ 51, 874 N.W.2d 475, 492-93; Jensen, 2007 S.D. 76, 

¶¶ 18-22, 737 N.W.2d at 290-91.  This judge also concluded that 

Defendant’s alibi instruction did not conform to the evidence here 

because Kryger’s whereabouts were unaccounted for, during most of the 

time period which related to Kari’s death; and that Defendant had only 
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been able to interpose a partial alibi (or something even less), when 

Kryger said that he was almost struck by a dark-colored SUV without 

lights, while riding his bike around Sioux Falls.  SR 18-21, 28, 586; 

JT 1282, 1322-25, 1373-74, 1437-43; EX 39.  Nuzum, 2016 S.D. 89, 

¶¶ 18-24, 723 N.W.2d at 559-60.  The court further informed the jury, in 

Jury Instruction 16, that the exact date of the crimes was not required in 

this case because of the “on or about language” in the Indictment; and 

that a date “reasonably near” the victim’s demise would suffice.  SR 18-

21, 28, 531; JT 1437-43.  Janklow, 2005 S.D. 25, ¶ 25, 693 N.W.2d at 

695 (no prejudice exists unless the jury would have returned a different 

verdict).  Accordingly, all of the Defendant’s jury instruction claims are 

specious.   

VII 

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION 

WHEN IT DENIED DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT 
OF ACQUITTAL. 
 

A. Background and Standard of Review. 

 As noted above, State has combined the three jury instruction 

protests raised by Defendant into one issue and redesignated Kryger’s 

eighth argument, as its seventh issue.  DB 33-38, 48.  Specifically, 

Kryger argues that Judge Salter made a mistake when he rejected the 

defense’s motion for judgment of acquittal.  DB 33-38, 48; JT 1413-33.  

In addition, Defendant contends that the facts in this case are similar to 

those, in State v. Lacroix, 423 N.W.2d 169 (S.D. 1998); that the 
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prosecution’s evidence “invited too much conjecture and speculation, not 

otherwise defined by the jury instructions”; and that proof of Kryger’s 

state of mind, let alone his status as the actual perpetrator of any 

crimes, was absent in this case.  DB 33-38, 48.  Defendant also urges 

that Dr. Snell’s testimony was lacking, with respect to the time and place 

of Kari’s death; that this expert could not establish whether the victim’s 

vaginal injuries had been caused by consensual or nonconsensual sex; 

that the mosque video did not show who had been driving Kari’s SUV 

and whether the person walking towards the victim’s home had 

permission to enter, or why there were no signs of a forced entry at the 

crime scene; that the jury was left to guess about where and when the 

perpetrator formed the intent to commit the crimes in question; and that 

no one could tell where the victim died.  DB 33-38, 48. 

 This Court reviews the denial of a motion for judgment of acquittal 

de novo.  State v. Bosworth, 2017 S.D. 43, ¶ 11, 899 N.W.2d 691, 694.  It 

also does not resolve conflicts in the evidence, pass on the credibility of 

the witnesses, determine the plausibility of an explanation, or weigh the 

evidence.  Id.  

B. Legal Analysis. 

 Defendant wants to capitalize upon the fact that he tried to commit 

the perfect crime, by cleaning up Kari’s home; immersing the victim’s 

body in a bathtub full of water and bleach; cutting Kari’s fingernails to 

the quick; and getting rid of his plaid jacket and the victim’s personal 
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belongings.  DB 33-38; JT 907-1586, 1642-3095; EX 46-47, 64-66, 98, 

105-06, 118.  State v. Boston, 2003 S.D. 71, ¶ 10, 665 N.W.2d 100, 104 

(concealment shows consciousness of guilty).  In addition, Kryger had a 

full opportunity to challenge the efficacy of the police investigation at 

trial; the practical reasons why testing procedures had to be prioritized; 

the fact that many of the items, which had been collected by the police, 

could not be tied to this case; and the contents of the mosque and Family 

Market videos.  JT 1136-74, 1282-91, 1302-34, 2340-67, 3076-90; 

EX 38, 46-47, 118, G.  Chipps, 2016 S.D. 8, ¶ 51, 874 N.W.2d at 492-93.  

Defendant also ignores that the jury had the intelligence and the ability 

to interpret the facts here and understand the court’s instructions.  

SR 524-79; JT 1413-33.  Owens, 2002 S.D. 42, ¶¶ 95-99, 643 N.W.2d at 

757-58; State v. Holzer, 2000 S.D. 75, ¶ 20, 611 N.W.2d 647, 653-54. 

 Moreover, Judge Salter determined that both direct and 

circumstantial evidence existed in this case; that the medical, video, 

audio, photographic and forensic evidence was sufficient to submit this 

matter to the jury; that DNA testing on Kari’s vaginal swabs had revealed 

a match with Defendant’s genetic profile; and that Kryger had been 

riding his bike in the victim’s neighborhood, at the time of her demise.3  

JT 1076-1118, 1141-45, 1222-23, 1237-58, 1302-91, 2340-56, 3000-06, 

3075-91; EX 37-40, 45-47, 83, 100-18, F.  Chipps, 2016 S.D. 8, ¶ 51, 
                     
3 Detective Hoffman noted that the bicyclist, in the Family Market 

video, who was going north on South Garfield, did not have any 
reflectors on his bike, unlike Kryger’s Huffy Ironman, which had white 

reflectors on both wheels.  JT 1036-37, 1318-20; EX 46, 99, G. 
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874 N.W.2d at 492-93; Ralios, 2010 S.D. 43, ¶ 49, 783 N.W.2d at 600-

01.  In addition, this judge explained that the evidentiary picture at trial 

included the mosque videos and the people who had come forward to 

identify Defendant in this footage; the fact that Kari had returned to her 

residence after a family get together at Pizza Ranch; that the victim lived 

alone and had never had any relationship, or contact with Kryger; that 

Defendant was not licensed, privileged to enter, or to remain in the 

victim’s home, even in the absence of a forced entry; and that Kari had 

died from ligature strangulation, which required extensive pressure to 

her neck.  JT 1076-1118, 1130-39, 1166-74, 1222-23, 1302-28, 1413-

33, 2340-58, 2999-3006, 3075-91; EX 38, 46-47, 118, F.  Bosworth, 

2017 S.D. 43, ¶ 11, 899 N.W.2d at 694 ; Chipps, 2016 S.D. 8, ¶ 51, 874 

N.W.2d 492-93 (jury makes the call on identity of defendant in video 

recordings); Running Bird, 2002 S.D. 86, ¶¶ 39-40, 649 N.W.2d at 617.  

The court also found that premeditation can be instantaneous, and 

proven by the manner in which Kari had died.  JT 1413-33.  State v. 

Berhanu, 2006 S.D. 94, ¶ 16, 724 N.W.2d 181, 185-86.  

 Lastly, the facts in this case most closely resemble those, in 

Owens, 2002 S.D. 42, ¶¶ 95-99, 643 N.W.2d at 757-58, because of the 

brutality and force, which it took to leave two ligature marks on Kari’s 

neck and to viciously strangle her; the damage to the victim’s fractured 

hyoid bone and thyroid cartilage; the multiple red marks in Kari’s vaginal 

area; and her numerous other traumatic injuries.  DB 37-38; SR 490-
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501; JT 1076-1118; EX 60-61, 100-17.  Kari’s naked body was also 

submerged in a bathtub full of water and bleach, or a cleaning product, 

to destroy any evidence of Defendant’s guilt; Kryger suddenly had 

sufficient funds to buy an engagement ring, a new cell phone and calling 

plan after the victim’s death, and the disappearance of her purse from 

her home; and Defendant changed his story and insisted that he had had 

consensual sex with Kari after DNA-testing results linked him to the 

sperm cell fraction on the victim’s vaginal swabs.  SR 490-501; JT 1076-

1118, 1142-44, 1211-12, 1222-23, 1237, 1244, 2407, 2424-25, 2432-34; 

EX 37, 64-66, 98, 100-17, 124.  Uhring, 2016 S.D. 93, ¶ 12, 888 N.W.2d 

at 554 (jury sorts out the truth).  Thus, no phantom perpetrator exists 

here and Kryger sealed his own fate with his lies. 

VIII 

THE CUMULATED EFFECT OF JUDGE SALTER’S 
SO-CALLED ERRORS DID NOT DEPRIVE DEFENDANT OF  

A FAIR TRIAL. 
 

A. Overview and Standard of Review. 

 Again, State has reclassified Defendant’s tenth argument, as its 

eighth issue in this brief.  DB 42-48.  Kryger submits that “overwhelming 

evidence” of his guilt did not exist in this case, and that the “combined 

sum” of all the errors deprived him of a fair trial.  DB 42-48.  In addition, 

Defendant rehashes his position that Dr. Snell could not ascertain 

whether Kari’s vaginal injuries had been caused by consensual or 

nonconsensual intercourse; that neither the mosque videos, or the DNA 



 

 38 

evidence, established who was in the victim’s residence or vehicle, and 

whether this person had permission to enter the victim’s home; that the 

burn pit evidence was never tested or tied to the crimes in question; and 

that the trial court failed to use any of the jury instructions, which were 

proposed by the defense.  DB 42-48.  Defendant also alleges that 

“numerous anomalies” existed at trial because the blood stains found 

near Kari’s bathroom and the residue behind her ear were never tested; 

that the mosque videos did not show anyone on a bicycle wearing gloves, 

or carrying any bedding and cleaning products; and that the jury had to 

speculate whether the bleach pictured at Kryger’s work place was used to 

clean up the victim’s home, before her family members arrived at the 

crime scene.  DB 45-48 n.16; EX 98. 

 This Court has previously held that the cumulative effects of errors 

by a trial judge may support a finding that the defendant was denied his 

constitutional rights to a fair trial.  State v. Birdshead, 2016 S.D. 87, 

¶ 23, 888 N.W.2d 209, 216.  The question is whether a review of the 

entire record shows that a fair trial was conducted below.  State v. Davi, 

504 N.W.2d 844, 857 (S.D. 1993). 

B. Legal Synopsis.  

 Judge Salter did not commit any errors, prejudicial or otherwise 

here, and none of Kryger’s allegations support the conclusion that he 

was denied his constitutional rights to a fair trial.  DB 42-48; JT 907-

1586, 1642-3095; EX 1-127, A-G.  Stanley, 2017 S.D. 32, ¶ 34, 896 
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N.W.2d at 680; State v. Wright, 2007 S.D. 51, ¶ 69, 768 N.W.2d 512, 

534; State v. Perovich, 2001 S.D. 96, ¶ 30, 632 N.W.2d 12, 18.  The 

prosecution presented sufficient evidence of Defendant’s guilt at trial, as 

demonstrated by a review of the entire record and as detailed throughout 

this brief; Kryger cannot show that the cumulative effect of any so-called 

mistakes somehow compromised this proceeding, even if not every item 

collected by the police was linked to Kari’s death; the forensic experts 

needed to prioritize their testing protocols in this case; and the evidence 

confirmed that bleach and fire can degrade or eliminate DNA evidence.  

JT 1207-12, 1222-23, 1229, 1236-46, 1288-90, 1333-42, 1374-78, 

1385-86.  Birdshead, 2016 S.D. 87, ¶ 23, 888 N.W.2d at 216; Chipps, 

2016 S.D. 8, ¶ 51, 874 N.W.2d at 492-93; State v. Charger, 2000 S.D. 70, 

¶ 39, 611 N.W.2d 221, 229; McDowell v. Solem, 447 N.W.2d 646, 651 

(S.D. 1989). Defendant also is entitled to a fair but not a perfect trial.  

Perovich, 2001 S.D. 96, ¶ 30, 632 N.W.2d at 18; Davi v. Class, 2000 S.D. 

30, ¶ 51, 609 N.W.2d 107, 118.  As such, Kryger has failed to establish 

any cumulative errors and no relief is justified on this record. 
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CONCLUSION 

 Based upon the foregoing arguments and authorities, State 

respectfully requests that Defendant’s convictions be affirmed. 

             Respectfully submitted, 

MARTY J. JACKLEY 
ATTORNEY GENERAL 
 

 
 ______________________________ 

Ann C. Meyer 
Assistant Attorney General 
1302 East Highway 14, Suite 1 

Pierre, SD  57501-8501 
Telephone:  (605) 773-3215 
E-mail:  atgservice@state.sd.us  

mailto:atgservice@state.sd.us


 

 41 

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE 
 

 1. I certify that the Appellee’s Brief is within the limitation 

provided for in SDCL 15-26A-66(b) using Bookman Old Style typeface in 

12 point type.  Appellee’s Brief contains 8,996 words. 

 2. I certify that the word processing software used to prepare 

this brief is Microsoft Word 2010. 

 Dated this 19th day of September 2017. 

 

 
         

Ann C. Meyer 

      Assistant Attorney General 
 
 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 The undersigned hereby certifies that on this September 19, 2017, 

a true and correct copy of Appellee’s Brief in the matter of State of South 

Dakota v. Christopher Dean Kryger was served via electronic mail upon: 

Mark Kadi at mkadi@minnehahacounty.org 
Austin Vos at avos@minnehahacounty.org   

 

              
      Ann C. Meyer 
      Assistant Attorney General 

 
  

mailto:mkadi@minnehahacounty.org
mailto:avos@minnehahacounty.org





































	27869 Amended AB
	27869 Amended AB Appendix
	Indictment
	Judgment & Sentence
	Demand for Notice of Alibi
	Order re Opinion Evidence
	Order re Limine Criminal mind
	Order re Limine Criminal Mind
	Order re Limine Autopsy Photos
	Order Excluding johnson and johnson from jury trial
	Proposed Jury INstruction
	Jury Trial Transcript

	27869 RB
	27869 ARB

